

An Estimation of the Total Benefit Value of the British Countryside for Recreational **Activities**

Wagner, Marcus

Publication date: 2005

Document Version Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Link to publication

Citation for pulished version (APA): Wagner, M. (2005). An Estimation of the Total Benefit Value of the British Countryside for Recreational Activities: Discussion Paper. Centre for Sustainability Management.

General rights

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights.

- Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study or research.
 You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal ?

Take down policy If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

An Estimation of the Total Benefit Value of the British Countryside for Recreational Activities

Discussion Paper



Marcus Wagner

Lehrstuhl für Umweltmanagement Universität Lüneburg Scharnhorststr. 1 D-21335 Lüneburg

Fax: +49-4131-677-2186 csm@uni-lueneburg.de www.uni-lueneburg.de/csm/

November 2005

© Marcus Wagner, 2005. All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system or transmitted in any form or by any means: electronic, electrostatic magnetic tapes, photocopying, recording or otherwise, without the permission in writing from the copyright holders.

Centre for Sustainability Management (CSM) e.V.

Chair of Corporate Environmental Management University of Lueneburg Scharnhorststr. 1 D-21335 Lueneburg

Centrum für Nachhaltigkeitsmanagement (CNM) e.V.

Lehrstuhl für Betriebswirtschaftslehre, insbes. Umweltmanagement Universität Lüneburg Scharnhorststr. 1 D-21335 Lüneburg

Tel. +49-4131-677-2181 Fax. +49-4131-677-2186 E-mail: csm@uni-lueneburg.de www.uni-lueneburg.de/csm

ISBN 978-3-935630-53-5

CONTENTS

LIST	T OF TABLES	IV
Abst	tract	5
1	Introduction	5
2	Woodlands	6
3	Agricultural land	8
4	Heathlands	8
5	Coastal areas and other aquatic and marine resources	9
6	Aggregated total economic value	9
7	Discussion	10
8	Conclusions and Outlook	12
9	Literature	13

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Recreational activities and countryside habitat types	6
Table 2: Benefit value estimates for British woodland	8
Table 3: Minimum and maximum estimates for total economic value	10
Table 4: Calibration factors for WTP values from CV studies	11
Table 5: Corrected Minimum and Maximum Estimates for the Total Economic Value	
of the Countryside for Recreational Use	11

ABSTRACT

This paper aims to estimate the total benefit value of the British countryside for recreational use. For this purpose its focus is on the main countryside habitat types used for informal rural recreation. After an introduction to the concept of total economic value and its relation to valuation methods for environmental goods, it is sought to estimate the total benefit value of the British countryside. These estimates are based on a review of previous valuation studies and on current figures for designated preservation areas and recreational activities in the countryside. The monetary values from previous studies on the basis of current area and use figures are extrapolated to obtain a first estimate of the total economic value. This estimate then is discussed and adjusted for method-bound limitations, especially possible overestimates from revealed preference methods. Finally some policy-relevant conclusions are drawn.

1 INTRODUCTION

According to Allanson and Whitby (1996) the primary value of ecological systems (i.e. the total economic value of the framework of environmental systems) can be approximated by the sum of the use and non-use values of an environmental good for an activity which yields the total economic value (TEV) of that good. Following Hodge (1995), the use values can be classified in the direct use values (e.g. fisheries, tourism or recreation) and the indirect use values (i.e. ecological function values that can be neglected in a first approximation for the estimation of recreational benefits). The non-use values can be subdivided in option values (i.e. future direct and indirect use values) and other quasi-option values (Jepma and Munashinge, 1998). The most important of the latter ones are existence values (i.e. values from the knowledge of continued existence arising from bequest and stewardship motives, altruism and Q-altruism). Whereas a private good has only use values, public goods often have significant non-use values (Foster et al., 1997). Although there is considerable difficulty to aggregate the various studies that have attempted a valuation of the countryside for recreational activities as these have used rather different methods (ranging from contingent valuation (CV, see Carson et al., 2001) and travel costs (TC) to hedonic (HP) pricing approaches) it is sought to estimate the total economic value of Britain's rural areas for recreation from these figures. The theoretical basis common to all approaches is that ordinal individual preferences (although utility is an unobservable index of preferences) are represented by a utility function (Hanley et al., 1997). Changes in utility are then captured by consumer surplus measures. Consumer surplus is the money metric of the unobservable utility function and can be either a willingness to pay (WTP) or a willingness to accept (WTA) compensation measures (Isik, 2004; Kuriyama and Takeuchi, 2001). However, neither hypothetical nor real payments necessary correspond to the true welfare measure (e.g. the Hicksian compensating or equivalent) but the underlying values are bounded from below by real payments and from above by hypothetical payments (Foster et al., 1997; List and Gallet, 2001).

The conceptual framework underlying the calculation of national benefits from informal recreation that makes use of the countryside is the notion that a number of distinct recreational activities takes place in several (mutually exclusive) habitats of the countryside as set out in Table 1. A complex structure of designations (e.g. ESA, SSSI and National Parks) has been set up to protect the landscape resources of the countryside (Midmore et al., 1995) and the non-existence of admission prices makes it difficult to measure benefits from rural recreation and imposes a need for indirect methods.

Recreational activities	Countryside habitat types
Sport-fishing, sub-aqua diving,	Canals, rivers, reservoirs, wetlands,
canal boat travelling, beach	coastal areas, sea, other marine
recreation, other water-sports	reserves (e.g. estuaries)
Hill-walking, countryside	Woodlands (esp. Ancient
photography, vehicle tours,	Woodlands),
hunting, countryside watching,	Heathlands (esp. Lowland Heaths),
living in the countryside	Moorlands
Climbing, other mountain sports	Mountain areas
Caving	Caves

Table 1: Recreational activities and countryside habitat types

The approach used here to estimate the national benefit aggregate is to interpolate the values from different valuation studies either on a population / visitor or on an area basis for the four areas of the countryside that are most important for recreation: woodlands, heathlands, agricultural lands and coastal zones and other marine and aquatic resources. However, it needs to be acknowledged, that there are some limitations to this approach. For example the use and non-use values can be very different for visitors and residents of an area. Generally non-use values are also problematic to estimate, e.g. regarding option demand. As well different individuals visit different subsets of available sites what makes it is difficult to specify each recreationalist's choice set. Finally double-counting has to be avoided.

2 WOODLANDS

Adger and Whitby (1991) estimated a total landscape benefit of agriculture and forestry of £906m (in 1988 values). This was based on contingent valuation and travel cost studies by Willis (1982), Mansfield (1971) and Willis et al. (1988). The UK Woodland cover amounts to 10 per cent of the total land area (Forestry Commission, 1998). Agriculture and forestry

together account for 87 per cent of the UK surface area (Adger and Whitby, 1991). Assuming that the landscape benefit is evenly distributed across agricultural land and woodland this yields a benefit attributable to forestry only of £104m.

Compared to this the hedonic pricing study of Garrod and Willis (1992) estimates net benefits from unpriced visits to Forestry Commission (FC) sites (i.e. the aggregate net amenity value for all FC woodlands in Britain) of £353,323 per annum. As about 35 per cent of the British woods and forests are managed by the FC (Forestry Commission, 1998) this would imply a net amenity value of all UK woodlands of approximately $\pounds 1m$.¹

Ancient woodlands (which amount to 1.25 per cent of the UK land area) have probably to be considered as a special case. Hanley and Munro (1994) in a contingent valuation study calculated a discounted annual WTP in the range of £1.03 to £1.52 per head for the local population. They thus estimated the use and non-use values of woodland preservation to this population. However, as this study used a once-and-for-all payment to a trust fund as a bid vehicle it is crucial if respondents implicitly discount benefits as otherwise their bids actually represent annual amounts (Kahneman and Knetsch, 1992). Based on these figures and the district population of 140,000 and a Yorkshire population of 4.8 million people (Hanley and Spash, 1992) aggregate WTP would be in the range of £144,200 to £7.3m for the woodland surveyed. The total area of ancient woodland in Britain amounts to 340,000ha (Hanley and Spash, 1992). The area of the woodland studied is 29.5ha and hence the ratio between both is approximately 11,525:1. Assuming that the population sample was representative for the whole of Britain and that population densities for all areas with ancient woodland are similar and using the above factor, a total benefit value for all British ancient woodlands would be in the range of £1.7 milliards to £84 milliards.

This range is considerable higher than the estimate derived from the study of Adger and Whitby (1991). This could either mean that the CV method is not reliable or that the non-use values of these woodlands are considerably greater than their use values.

Willis and Garrod (1991) used the travel cost method to estimate the consumer's surplus for the value of a day trip to a British forest and calculated values in the range of £1.44 to £2.60 per trip and head, based on a zonal travel cost model. The total number of day visits to forests in the UK in 1994 was at least 346 million trips (Costigan and O'Connor, 1997)

From this a consumer's surplus in the range of £500m to £900m can be estimated. Based on these estimates summarised in Table 2, the total benefit value of British woodland for recreational purposes would be in the range of £2.3 milliards to £85 milliards assuming no double counting occurred.

¹ Consequently the costs for providing these values should amount to £103m.

Study	Estimated benefit	Benefit value (in £m)
Adger and Whitby (1991)	Landscape benefit	104
Garrod and Willis (1992)	Net benefits of FC sites	1
Hanley and Munro (1994)	Ancient woodlands	1,700 - 84,000
Willis and Garrod (1991)	Forest day trips	500 - 900

Table 2: Benefit value estimates for British woodland

3 AGRICULTURAL LAND

In the study of Adger and Whitby (1991) a value of landscape benefits of £802m has been estimated. There are also several special agri-environment programmes the government operates to conserve the countryside, e.g. the Environmentally Sensitive Areas scheme (ESA), the Nitrate Sensitive Areas scheme and the Countryside Stewardship scheme. Of these, the ESA scheme which was introduced by the Agricultural Act 1986 is probably the most important, both in terms of payments and area covered. The estimated value of the UK ESAs will therefore be used as a first approximation of the total benefit value of the agrienvironment programmes. Hanley (1998) also reports significant non-use values in a study on a Scottish ESA what might as well justify this approach. Hanley et al. (1996) estimated a total value of conservation benefits of £22m and £13m for the Scottish Breadalbane and Machair ESAs, respectively. The Breadalbane ESA represents 16 per cent of the total Scottish ESA area (Hanley, 1998). This yields a maximum benefit value for the Scottish ESAs of £135m. This value would have to be added to the figure reported by Adger and Whitby (1991) who did not take into account recreational and existence values of ESAs. Garrod and Willis (1995) conducted a CV study into the WTP of visitors, residents and the general public for two English ESAs. Although WTP figures for residents were fairly similar to those obtained in Scotland, visitor values were considerably lower. Hence the value obtained for the Breadlabane ESA can be taken as a maximum value and can be extrapolated to the total UK ESA area of 2.25 million hectares (MAFF, 1998 and MLURI, 1998). This recreational value of all British ESAs to be added to the figure of £802m would be £281m and hence the maximum total benefit value of the UK agricultural land for recreational purposes could be assumed to be £1,083m.

4 HEATHLANDS

A third habitat type that is important for recreational activities in the countryside are the British heathlands. Hanley et al. (1991) in their CV study measured the WTP for a lowland heath (Avon Forest Park) in Dorset using a payment card bid collection mechanism and alternative bid vehicles. This study also carried out a convergent validity experiment comparing CV-based values with results from travel cost measurements. The option price

was to be estimated and an annual consumer's surplus of £30,784 and £317,900 was calculated for visits to Avon Forest, based on CV and travel costs, respectively. This would imply a total value for the UK heathlands in the range of at least £5.5m to £56.8m based on the size of Avon Forest and a total UK heathland area of 57,222 ha (Hanley and Spash, 1992). Based on the 5.9 million residents in the major UK heathland countries, Hanley et al. (1991) estimated a preservation value of £9.03m assuming that the sample of their study was representative. This figure includes existence benefits as well as non-use values. If the bids in the above study actually represent annual values, then the total benefit value of UK heathlands would be £150m per annum (Hanley and Spash, 1992). Therefore the benefits from lowland heaths for recreational activities lie probably in the range of £5.5m to £150m. This number is relatively small, and studies in other countries (e.g. Germany) have found considerably higher numbers (Müller, 2004). The higher figures are likely due to the fact that in the UK, relative large areas of heathlands exist, whereas in other countries heathland areas are comparatively scarce and therefore valued higher. For example, the Lueneburg Heath in Germany is one of the very few large heathlands in Germany. As well, different elements of a heathland have differing value to visitors (Hellmann, 2003) and heathlands differing in composition may thus be valued differently.

5 COASTAL AREAS AND OTHER AQUATIC AND MARINE RESOURCES

Finally, water recreation has to be considered. In their study of the Scottish Flow Country, Hanley and Craig (1991) estimated a mean WTP of £16.80 per visit. On the basis of a total figure of 391 million day visitors to the sea or coast and to canals or rivers in Britain in 1996 (Costigan and O'Connor, 1997) this would result in a total economic value of water-related recreation of approximately £6.57 milliards. However, considering UK expenditure figures by Costigan and O'Connor (1997) this might be an overestimate. They found expenditures of £10.20 and £6.30 for sea or coast and canal or river visits, respectively. Based on these results, the benefit value of the countryside for water recreation would be £3.2 milliards, still a considerable high figure.

6 AGGREGATED TOTAL ECONOMIC VALUE

Aggregating the figures obtained for all four habitat types allows an estimate of the total economic value of the countryside for recreational use. Table 3 summarises maximum and minimum estimates that have been calculated in the previous sections. It is assumed that the errors related to double-counting are broadly negligible. Also problems of substitution and complementary that might lead to overestimates as well as under-estimates of benefit values (Adger and Whitby, 1991) were not considered.

Habitat type used for recreational activity	Maximum benefit value (in £ milliards)	Minimum benefit value (in £ milliards)
Woodlands	85	2.3
Agricultural land	1.083	0.802
Heathlands	0.150	0.0055
Coasts and rivers	6.57	3.2
Total economic value	92.80	6.31

Table 3: Minimum and maximum estimates for total economic value

The total economic value of the countryside as a recreational resource as estimated in this study would therefore be in the range of £6.31 milliards to £92.80 milliards. The fact that the maximum value is approximately 1500 per cent higher than the minimum value shows the considerable difficulties that are attached to such estimates.

7 DISCUSSION

The estimates obtained in the previous sections raise several issues. One major point are the problems related to benefit transfer. Transferring mean values is only justified if the benefiting populations are identical and the sites for which the transfer is done are identical (Desvouges et al., 1992; Boyle and Bergstrom, 1992). If this is not the case, mean values would have to be adjusted before a transfer can be done. However, the contingent valuation method is likely to show poor performance in this respect, as it is unable to break down environmental goods into their constituents (Hanley et al., 1997). Although in the case of this study no adjustments have been made it seems to be acceptable to transfer CV-based mean WTP values as this at least allows to calculate a first approximation of the total economic value of the countryside for recreational activities. As well, designated areas of one category should have been chosen on the basis of a fairly homogenous set of choice criteria and therefore their distinct characteristics should be at least broadly comparable in value. Also,

the viability of CV estimates itself compared to real payments might be of at least similar magnitude than the issue of benefit transfer. Foster et al. (1997) undertook a non-experimental comparison to reveal potential divergence between hypothetical and real payments, focusing on differences in the underlying structure of incentives between those payments. For different CV studies, they calculated 'calibration factors' which give the ratio of the hypothetical to the real payments, although strict comparability of data from CV studies and real payments was not given, due to population and information effects. Table 4 lists some of the studies that were compared and the calibration factors that were obtained for them.

Authors	Study area	Calibration factor
Hanley and Craig	Scottish Flow	1.30 – 3.64
(1991)	Country	
Hanley and Munro	Southern England	1.26 – 25.32
(1994)	Heathlands	
Hanley and Spash	Birkham Wood	1.16 – 4.26
(1993)		

Table 4: Calibration factors for WTP values from CV studies

Thus, Foster et al. (1997) provide evidence (for the narrowly defined case of open-ended mail surveys based on charitable donation payment vehicles) that the hypothetical WTP is up to four times larger than real payments.² This should be taken into account in the above TEV estimates. To do this, the values obtained from the above studies are corrected by the maximum calibration factor. As well, the value of forest day trips to woodlands is a maximum estimate which is based on a zonal travel cost model. Willis and Garrod (1991) also obtained values based on an individual travel cost model which were considerably lower. Based on these values the maximum benefit value of forest day trips would be £802.7m whereas the minimum value would be £138.4m. Taken together, the two adjustments yield the following results.

Habitat type used for	Maximum benefit	Minimum benefit value
recreational activity	value (in £ milliards)	(in £ milliards)
Woodlands	20.6	0.643
Agricultural land	1.083	0.802
Heathlands	0.0059	0.00022
Coasts and rivers	3.2	1.8
Total economic value	24.89	3.25

Table 5: Corrected Minimum and Maximum Estimates for the Total Economic Value of the Countryside for Recreational Use

It should nevertheless be noted, that the use of calibration factors is still debated in the literature, since (assuming that one defined monetary metric for measuring consumer surplus is used in all cases) differences between e.g. hypothetical WTP/WTA and real payments (and related differences in benefit value) are not necessarily only method-related (for a discussion of method-related biases see Bateman et al., 2002). List and Gallet (2001) use meta-analysis techniques to assess method related influences on such differences. They

² The study finds this is mainly due to a reduced extent of extreme free-riding, rather than existence of incentives for strategic over-bidding in the hypothetical context.

identify also the use of WTP versus WTA as a determining factor for differences. Kuriyama and Takeuchi (2001) find that large differences are more likely in the case of monetary valuation and Carson et al. (2001) point out that many issues especially of the contingent valuation method can be circumvented by careful choice of method and design.

Differences can furthermore also result from the fact, that the study object is not held constant across studies (e.g. different studies do not all analyse the same forest). In such a case, an important *ceteris paribus* assumption of cost-benefit analysis in general is violated. Use of calibration factors seems most adviseable, if method-related influences are clearly stronger than other (e.g. object-related) influences and if they are based on direct comparison an experimental with a hypothetical treatment. (see Mitchell and Carson (1989) and Neill et al. (1994) for a discussion of various aspects surrounding differences between hypothetical and real payments).

8 CONCLUSIONS AND OUTLOOK

The results of this study show that considerable use and non-use values of the British countryside for recreational use exist. Cautious estimates would result in a total economic value of the countryside for such activities of £3.25m whereas a maximum estimate would be around £92.8m. The factor of nearly 1:30 between these two values indicates the methodological problems that are attached to valuation techniques, especially those based on revealed preferences (i.e. contingent valuation and travel costs) as well as the general problem of benefit transfer. Further refinement, especially concerning the relation between hypothetical and real payments, the application of individual travel cost methodologies and the necessary and sufficient conditions of successful benefit transfer can yield more precise figures. However, the figures estimated here seem to be reasonably high to justify current and future conservation policies and the costs they impose on society. Especially the considerable existence values justify further preservation of designations with low use value but with large existence values that depend on maintaining a sufficiently large habitat area. Areas of future research should however be the analysis of differences in valuation amongst stakeholder groups in society (see Luz (2000) and Stoll-Kleeman (2001) for details on these aspects), and how the precautionairy principle can be integrated more strongly with costbenefit analysis (see Kuntz-Duriseti (2004) for an innovative approach). Also, next to traditional cost-benefit analysis, novel methods of analysis, e.g. based on happiness research could be applied to the issue (Frey 2005).

9 LITERATURE

- Adger, N. and Whitby, M. (1991). Accounting for the Impact of Agriculture and Forestry on Environmental Quality, European Economic Review, 35(2-3), 629-641.
- Allanson, P. and Whitby, M. (1996). The Rural Economy and the British Countryside. London: Earthscan.
- Bateman, I., Carson, R., Day, B., Hanemann, M. and Hanley, N. (2002). Economic Valuation with Stated Preference Techniques: A Manual. Cheltenham: Edward Elgar.
- Bergstrom, J., Stoll, J., Titre, J. and Wright, V. (1990). Economic Values of Wetlands-Based Recreation, Ecological Economics, 2(2), 129-147.
- Boyle, K. and Bergstrom, J. (1992). Benefits Transfer Studies: Myths, Pragmatism and Idealism, Water Resources Research, 28, 657-663
- Carson, R., Flores, N. and Meade, N. (2001). Contingent valuation: controversies and evidence, Environmental and Resource Economics, 19(2), 173-210.
- Costigan, P. and O'Connor, W. (1997). The 1996 UK Day Visit Survey Technical Report. Northumberland: Countryside Commission.
- Desvouges, W., Naughton, M. and Parsons, G. (1992). Benefit Transfer: Conceptual Problems in Estimating Water Quality Benefits from Existing Studies, Water Resources Research, 28, 675-683
- Forestry Commission (1998). Web page http://www. Forestry.gov.uk/ukfspart1.2.html, accessed 19 April 1998.
- Foster, V., Bateman, I. J. and Harley, D. (1997). Real and Hypothetical Willingness to Pay for Environmental Preservation: A Non-experimental Comparison, Journal of Agricultural Economics, 48(2), 123-138.
- Frey, B. F. (2005) Happiness Research: A Revolution in Economics, Lecture held on occasion of the Distinguished CES Fellow 2005 award ceremony, Munich: Ludwigs-Maximilians-University, 15 November 2005.
- Garrod, G. and Willis, K. (1992). The Amenity Value of Woodland in Great Britain, Environmental and Resource Economics, 2(4), 415-434.
- Garrod, G. D. and Willis, K. G. (1995). Valuing the Benefits of the South Downs Environmentally Sensitive Area, Journal of Agricultural Economics, 46, 160-173.
- Hanley, N. and Craig, S. (1991). Wilderness Development Decisions and the Krutilla-Fisher Model: The Case of Scotland's Flow Country, Ecological Economics, 4(2), 145-164.
- Hanlet, N., Munro, A. and Jamieson, D. (1991). Environmental Economics, Sustainable Development and Nature Conservation. Report to Nature Conservation Council. Peterborough: England.
- Hanley, N. and Spash, C. (1992). Cost Benefit Analysis and the Environment. Aldershot: Edward Elgar.

- Hanley, N. and Munro, A. (1994). The Effects of Information in Contingent Markets for Environmental Goods, Discussion Paper in Ecological Economics, 94/5. Stirling: Department of Economics, University of Stirling.
- Hanley, N., Parisson, D., Simpson, J., Crabtree, R., MacMillan, D. and Bullock, C. (1996). Valuation of the Conservation Benefits of Environmentally Sensitive Areas. Aberdeen: MLURI and EERG.
- Hanley, N., Shogren, J. F. and White, B. (1997). Environmental Economics in Theory and Practice. London: Macmillan.
- Hanley, N., MacMillan, D., Wright, R. E., Bullock, C., Simpson, I., Parisson, D. and Crabtree, B. (1998). Contingent Valuation Versus Choice Experiments: Estimating the Benefits of Environmentally Sensitive Areas in Scotland, Journal of Agricultural Economics, 49(1), 1-15.
- Hellmann, K. (2002) Ermittlung von Präferenzen verschiedener Anspruchsgruppen für die Landschaft in einem Naturschutzgebiet. Anwendung der Conjoint-Analyse am Fallbeispiel der Lüneburger Heide. Lüneburg. Centre for Sustainability Management.
- Hodge, I. (1995). Environmental Economics. Individual Incentives and Public Choices. London: Macmillan.
- Isik, M. (2004). Does uncertainty affect the divergence between WTP and WTA measures?, Economic Bulletin, 4(1), 1-7.
- Jepma, C. J. and Munashinge, M. (1998). Climate Change Policy. Facts, Issues and Analyses. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Kahneman, D. and Knetsch, J. (1992). Valuing Public Goods: The Purchase of Moral Satisfaction, Journal of Environmental Economics and Management, 22(1), 57-70.
- Kuntz-Duriseti, K. (2004). Evaluating the economic value of the precautionary principle: using cost benefit analysis to place a value on precaution, Environmental Sciency and Policy, 7(4), 291-301.
- Kuriyama, K. and Takeuchi, K. (2001). The disparity between WTP and WTA with or without money, Web page http://www.fun.ac.jp/ ~kawagoe/paper/kuriyama.pdf, accessed 21 November 2005.
- List, J. and Gallet, C. (2001). What experimental protocol influence disparities between actual and hypothetical stated values?, Environmental and Resource Economics, 20(3), 241-254.
- Lutz, F. (2000). Participatory landscape ecology: a basis for acceptance and implementation, Landscape and Urban Planning, 50(1), 157-166.
- MAFF (1998). Web pages http://www.maff.gov.uk/environ/envsch/ esa2.htm and http://www.maff.gov.uk/environ/envsch/default# Environmentally Sensitive, accessed 23 April 1998.
- MLURI (1998), Web page http://www.mluri.sari.ac.uk/%7Emi617/ eseg/research/contracts/esapress.html, accessed 23 April 1998.
- Mansfield, N. W. (1971). The Estimation of Benefits from Recreational Sites and the Provision of a New Recreational Facility, Regional Studies, 5, 55-69.

- Midmore, P., Russell, S. and Jenkins, T. (1995). Developing an Holistic Approach to the Concept of Environmental Quality. Report for Scottish Natural Heritage. Aberystwyth: University of Wales.
- Mitchell, R. C. and Carson, R. T. (1989). Using Surveys t oValue Public Goods: The Contingent Valuation Method. Washington: RFF Press.
- Müller, J. (2004) Cost-benefit Ratio and Empirical Examination of the Acceptance of Heathland Maintenance in the Lueneburg Heath Nature Reserve, Journal of Environmental Planning and Management, 47(5), 757-771.
- Neil, H. R. Cummings, R. G., Ganderton, P. T., Harrison, G. W. and McGuckin, T. (1994). Hypothetical Surveys and Real Economic Commitments, Land Economics, 70(2), 145-154.
- Stoll-Kleeman, S. (2001). Opposition to the designation of protected areas in Germany, Journal of Environmental Planning and Management, 44(1), 109-128.
- Willis, K. G. (1982). Green Belts: An Economic Appraisal of a Physical Planning Policy, Planning Outlook, 25, 62-69.
- Willis, K. G., Benson, J. F. and Whitby, M. C. (1988). Values of User-benefits of Forest Recreation and Wildlife. Newcastle: Department of Town and Country Planning, University of Newcastle-upon-Tyne.
- Willis, K. G. (1989). Option Value and Non-user Benefits of Wildlife Conservation, Journal of Rural Studies, 5, 245-256.
- Willis, K. G. and Garrod, G. D. (1991). An Individual Travel-cost Method of Evaluating Forest Recreation, Journal of Agricultural Economics, 42, 33-42.
- Willis, K., Garrod, G. and Saunders, C. (1993). Valuation of the South Downs and Somerset Levels Environmentally Sensitive Areas. Newcastle: Centre for Rural Economy, University of Newcastle-upon-Tyne.



2006

Pinter, A. (2006): Corporate Volunteering in der Personalarbeit: ein strategischer Ansatz zur Kombination von Unternehmensinteresse und Gemeinwohl? Lüneburg: Centre for Sustainability Management e.V.

Brix, K.; Bromma, B. & Jaenisch, J. (2006): Nachhaltiges Unternehmertum. Diskussion des Konzepts an Unternehmensbeispielen vom Bionier bis zum sustainable Entrepreneur. Lüneburg: Centre for Sustainability Management e.V.

Albrecht, P. (2006): Nachhaltigkeitsberichterstattung an Hochschulen. Diskussion möglicher Ansatzpunkte und ihrer Konsequenzen für die Praxis. Lüneburg: Centre for Sustainability Management e.V. & Institut für Umweltkommunikation.

Fitschen, U. (2006): Umweltmanagement ausgewählter Großveranstaltungen – Effektiver Umweltschutz oder Greenwashing? Lüneburg: Centre for Sustainability Management e.V.

Knolle, M. (2006): Implementierung von Sozialstandards in die Wertschöpfungskette von Bekleidungsunternehmen durch die Bildung von Kooperationen. Lüneburg: Centre for Sustainability Management e.V.

2005

Hellmann, K. (2005): Formen des Biodiversitätsmanagements. Ein öffentlicher und ein unternehmerischer Ansatz im Vergleich. Lüneburg: Centre for Sustainability Management e.V.

Schaltegger, S. & Hasenmüller, P. (2005): Nachhaltiges Wirtschaften aus Sicht des "Business Case of Sustainability." Ergebnispapier zum Fachdialog des Bundesumweltministeriums (BMU) am 17. November 2005. Lüneburg: Centre for Sustainability Management e.V.

Wagner, M. (2005): An Estimation of the Total Benefit Value of the British Countryside for Recreational Activities. Discussion Paper. Lüneburg: Centre for Sustainability Management e.V.

2004

Dubielzig, F.; Schaltegger, S. (2004): Methoden transdisziplinärer Forschung und Lehre. Ein zusammenfassender Überblick. Lüneburg: Centre for Sustainability Management e.V.

Herzig, C. (2004): Corporate Volunteering in Germany. Survey and Empirical Evidence. Lüneburg: Centre for Sustainability Management e.V.

Herzig, C. & Schaltegger, S. (2004): Nachhaltigkeit in der Unternehmensberichterstattung - Gründe, Probleme, Lösungsansätze. Lüneburg: Centre for Sustainability Management e.V.

Wagner, M. (2004): Firms, the Framework Convention on Climate Change & the EU Emissions Trading System. Corporate Energy Management Strategies to address Climate Change and GHG Emissions in the European Union. Lüneburg: Centre for Sustainability Management e.V.

Zöckler, J. (2004): Die Einführung des Emissionshandels in Deutschland. Eine polit-ökonomische Analyse unternehmerischer Interessenvertretung am Beispiel der Elektrizitätswirtschaft. Lüneburg: Centre for Sustainability Management e.V.



2003

Burandt, S.; Döscher, K.; Fuisz, S.-K.; Helgenberger, S. & Maly L. (2003): Transdiziplinäre Fallstudien in Lüneburg. Beschreibung eines Entwicklungskonzepts hin zur Erweiterung des Curriculums an der Universität Lüneburg. Lüneburg: Centre for Sustainability Management e.V.

Frenzel, S. (2003): Operative Umsetzung der projektorientierten Kyoto-Mechanismen bei Kraftwerken. Erarbeitung eines Instruments. Lüneburg: Centre for Sustainability Management e.V.

Herzig, C.; Rheingans-Heintze, A.; Schaltegger, S. & Tischer, M. (2003): Auf dem Weg zu einem nachhaltigen Unternehmertum. Entwicklung eines integrierten Konzepts. Lüneburg: Centre for Sustainability Management e.V.

Herzig, C.; Rheingans-Heintze, A. & Schaltegger, S. unter Mitarbeit von Jeuthe, K. (2003): Nachhaltiges Wirtschaften im Handwerk. Stand der Praxis in Hamburg, Nordrhein-Westfalen und Thüringen. Lüneburg: Centre for Sustainability Management e.V.

Kim, K. (2003): Kriterien der interaktiven Unternehmenskommunikation im Internet. Lüneburg: Centre for Sustainability Management e.V.

Lühmann, B. (2003): Entwicklung eines Nachhaltigekeitskommunikationskonzepts für Unternehmen. Modellanwendung am Beispiel T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH. Lüneburg: Centre for Sustainability Management e.V.

Wagner, M. (2003): The Porter Hypothesis Revisited: A Literature Review of Theoretical Models and Empirical Tests. Lüneburg: Centre for Sustainability Management e.V.

2002

Bilecen, E. & Kleiber, O. (2002): Erholung im Wald: Des einen Freund des anderen Leid. Kosten für Waldeigentümer und deren Einflussfaktoren. Lüneburg: Centre for Sustainability Management e.V.

Figge, F. (2002): Stakeholder und Unternehmensrisiko. Eine stakeholderbasierte Herleitung des Unternehmensrisikos. Lüneburg: Centre for Sustainability Management e.V.

Figge, F. (2002): Stakeholder Value Matrix. Die Verbindung zwischen Shareholder Value und Stakeholder Value. Lüneburg: Centre for Sustainability Management e.V.

Figge, F. & Hahn, T. (2002): Environmental Shareholder Value Matrix. Konzeption, Anwendung und Berechnung. Lüneburg: Centre for Sustainability Management e.V.

Figge, F. & Hahn, T. (2002): Sustainable Value Added. Measuring Corporate Sustainable Performance beyond Eco-Efficiency. 2nd, revised edition. Lüneburg: Centre for Sustainability Management e.V.

Hellmann, K. (2002): Ermittlung von Präferenzen verschiedener Anspruchsgruppen für die Landschaft in einem Naturschutzgebiet. Anwendung einer Conjoint-Analyse am Fallbeispiel der Lüneburger Heide. Lüneburg: Centre for Sustainability Management e.V.

Kim, K. (2002): Methoden zur Evaluation der Nachhaltigkeit von Unternehmen. Kategorisierung und Analyse ihrer Stakeholderorientierung. Lüneburg: Centre for Sustainability Management e.V.

Petersen, H. (2002): Sustainable Champions. Positionierung von Marktführern im Umweltbereich. Eine empirische Untersuchung. Lüneburg: Centre for Sustainability Management e.V.

Publikationen



BMU & BDI (Hrsg.); Schaltegger, S.; Herzig, C.; Kleiber, O. & Müller, J. (2002): Nachhaltigkeitsmanagement in Unternehmen. Konzepte und Instrumente zur nachhaltigen Unternehmensentwicklung. Lüneburg: Centre for Sustainability Management e.V.

German Federal Ministry for the Environment and Federation of German Industries (Eds.); Schaltegger, S.; Herzig, C.; Kleiber, O. & Müller, J. (2002): Sustainability Management in Business Enterprises. Concepts and Instruments for Sustainable Development. Lüneburg: Centre for Sustainability Management e.V.

Trautwein, S. (2002): Chancen und Probleme des betriebsinternen CO₂-Zertifikatehandels - am Beispiel des Otto Versand, Hamburg. Lüneburg: Centre for Sustainability Management e.V.

Wagner, M. (2002): Empirical identification of corporate environmental strategies. Their determinants and effects for firms in the United Kingdom and Germany. Lüneburg: Centre for Sustainability Management e.V.

Wagner, M. & Schaltegger, S. (2002): Umweltmanagement in deutschen Unternehmen - der aktuelle Stand der Praxis. Lüneburg: Centre for Sustainability Management e.V.

2001

Burritt, R.L. & Schaltegger, S. (2001): Eco-Efficiency in Corporate Budgeting. Lüneburg: Centre for Sustainability Management e.V.

Deegen, T. (2001): Ansatzpunkte zur Integration von Umweltaspekten in die "Balanced Scorecard". Lüneburg: Centre for Sustainability Management e.V.

Figge, F. (2001): Biodiversität richtig managen - Effizientes Portfoliomanagement als effektiver Artenschutz. Lüneburg: Centre for Sustainability Management e.V.

Figge, F. (2001): Wertschaffendes Umweltmanagement. Keine Nachhaltigkeit ohne ökonomischen Erfolg. Kein ökonomischer Erfolg ohne Nachhaltigkeit. Frankfurt: Fachverlag Moderne Wirtschaft in Zusammenarbeit mit PriceWaterhouseCoopers und dem Centre for Sustainability Management (CSM) e.V.

Figge, F. (2001): Environmental Value Added – ein neuer Ansatz zur Messung der Öko-Effizienz. Lüneburg: Centre for Sustainability Management e.V.

Figge, F.; Hahn, T.; Schaltegger, S. & Wagner, M. (2001): Sustainability Balanced Scorecard. Wertorientiertes Nachhaltigkeitsmanagement mit der Balanced Scorecard. Lüneburg: Centre for Sustainability Management e.V.

Hahn, T. & Wagner, M. (2001): Sustainability Balanced Scorecard. Von der Theorie zur Umsetzung. Lüneburg: Centre for Sustainability Management e.V.

Hroch, N. & Schaltegger, S. (2001): Wie gut berücksichtigen Umwelterklärungen und -berichte zentrale umweltpolitische Themen? Vergleichende Untersuchung am Beispiel von Angaben über CO₂-Emissionen und Energieverbrauch für 1995/96 und 1998/99. Lüneburg: Centre for Sustainability Management e.V.

Petersen, H. (2001): Gewinner der Nachhaltigkeit. Sustainable Champions. Ansätze zur Analyse von Marktführern im Umweltbereich. Lüneburg: Centre for Sustainability Management e.V.

Schaltegger, S.; Hahn, T. & Burritt, R.L. (2001): EMA – Links. Government, Management and Stakeholders (UN-Workbook 2). Lüneburg: Centre for Sustainability Management e.V.

Publikationen



Schaltegger, S. & Petersen, H. (2001): Ecopreneurship – Konzept und Typologie. Lüneburg: Centre for Sustainability Management e.V.

Schaltegger, S. & Synnestvedt, T. (2001): The Forgotten Link Between "Green" and Economic Success. Environmental Management as the Crucial Trigger between Environmental and Economic Performance. Lüneburg: Centre for Sustainability Management e.V.

Wagner, M. (2001): A review of empirical studies concerning the relationship between environmental and economic performance. What does the evidence tell us? 2nd, revised edition. Lüneburg: Centre for Sustainability Management e.V.

2000

Figge, F. & Schaltegger, S. (2000): Was ist "Stakeholder Value"? Vom Schlagwort zur Messung. Lüneburg: Centre for Sustainability Management e.V. und Bank Pictet in Zusammenarbeit mit UNEP.

Figge, F. & Schaltegger, S. (2000): What is "Stakeholder Value"? Developing a catchphrase into a benchmarking tool. Lüneburg: Centre for Sustainability Management e.V. and Bank Pictet in association with UNEP.

Figge, F. & Schaltegger, S. (2000): Qu'est-ce que la «Stakeholder Value»? Du mot-clé à sa quantification. Lüneburg: Centre for Sustainability Management e.V. et Banque Pictet en association avec UNEP.

Schaltegger, S.; Hahn, T. & Burritt, R.L. (2000): Environmental Management Accounting – Overview and Main Approaches. Lüneburg: Centre for Sustainability Management e.V.